








In detail

To find out whether your investment project is located in an area that is eligible for financial support, consult the geographical area 
questionnaire on the DATAR website (www.territoires.gouv.fr).
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or tax/social security contribution exemptions. 
Each of these measures comes with its own set 
of conditions.

Grants for industry and services (>> Prime 
d’aménagement du territoire or PAT)

PAT grants are based on the number of jobs created. 
Grants are made on a case-by-case basis, and take 
into account the features of each project (number 
of jobs created and total amount of investment). 
The ceiling is €15,000 per job created (see below 
about PAT grants).

	>> Local government support
Local authorities may grant various forms of support 
to business investment projects in regional aid zones. 
These may include subsidies or supplements to PAT 
grants and support to finance business premises 
(land and buildings) such as reduced purchase prices, 
within the limits applying to national regional aid 

for the area concerned. Rent support is limited to 
€200,000 per business over three years (de minimis). 
This ceiling has be increased to €500,000 until the 
end of 2010. Local authorities have the power to 
use the European aid available in their areas.

Main tax and social security contribution >>
exemptions

The advantage of tax and social security contribution 
exemptions is that they can be triggered automatically 
by the company as soon as the required conditions 
are met.
Tax exemptions apply to the local economic 
contribution (CET) and/or corporate tax as well as 
property tax. Exemptions from the local economic 
contribution and/or corporate tax are generally 
subject to authorization by the local authorities. 
Their decision stipulates the duration (between 
two and five years) and the extent of the exemption 

PAT grants are distributed 
by the DATAR (Délégation 
interministérielle à l’aménagement 
du territoire et à l'attractivité 
régionale) and are available to 
businesses for company creations, 
expansions, conversions or 
takeovers of existing businesses. 

Eligibility:

1. In the case of company creations, 
investments on the site designated 
for funding must involve either:

a) �the net creation of at least 
25 permanent jobs if eligible 
investment is more than €5 
million;

or

b) �the net creation of at least 
50 permanent jobs if eligible 
investment is less than €5 
million. 

2. In the case of expansions to 

existing operations or changes to 
the nature of business, investments 
on the site designated for funding 
must meet one of the following 
conditions:

a) �the net creation of at least 25 
permanent jobs and an increase 
of at least 50% in employment 
on the site;

b) �the net creation of at least 50 
permanent jobs;

c) �eligible investments of at least 
€10 million.

3. PAT grants may be available for 
takeovers of existing businesses 
subject to all three of the conditions 
below being met:

a) �a severe deterioration in the 
local labor market;

b) �the planned takeover will 
lead to a sustainable, 
structural improvement in 

the competitiveness of the 
business and contribute to the 
diversification of its customer 
base;

c) �and finally, the takeover involves 
the preservation of at least 80 
jobs and eligible investments of 
at least €5 million.

The amount granted may not 
exceed the equity of the recipient 
company together with any 
partners’ accounts frozen for the 
duration of the investment 
program.

Grants for industry and services (Prime d’aménagement du territoire or PAT)

In detail

For more information: Ministerial decree 
no. 2007-809 of May 11, 2007 relating 
to the granting of regional development 
(PAT) for industry and services (lists the 
eligible NAF codes). Application dossiers 
for aid can be downloaded from the 
DATAR web site. They comprise a letter 
of intention and a form.
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being granted. Some exemptions do not require 
authorization by the local authorities and apply 
automatically for a five-year period.
Corporate tax exemptions are possible in some 
regional areas, mainly in military restructuring and 
high-unemployment areas, and last for seven years. 
Investors taking over an ailing industrial business 
receive a two-year corporate tax exemption.
Social security contribution exemptions consist 
of reduced employer contribution rates which 
require investment projects to be located in areas 
particularly affected by economic restructuring 
programs. In cases where projects are located both 
in EU-recognized regional aid zones and in these 
priority development zones, the social security 
contribution exemptions can be combined with the 
measures described above in EU-recognized areas. 
Otherwise, exemptions are limited to €200,000 per 
company over a three-year period (de minimis).
 Within the context of the European recovery plan, 
the ceilings for some of these “de minimis” measures 
have been temporarily extended to €500,000 (until 
the end of 2010).

Public-sector redevelopment companies>>
Several large public-sector industrial groups have 
set up industrial redevelopment companies to 
support economic development in their regions 
(e.g., SOFIREM, FINORPA, SODIE, SODIV).
These companies provide support to new investors 
in the form of medium- and long-term loans, sub-
market rates, unsecured lending, and equity funding 
through the acquisition of temporary minority 
interests.

I.2. Support for investment and job 
creation outside designated regional 
aid zones

In the rest of France, support for investment may still 
be possible for small and medium-size businesses. Aid 
is capped at 7.5% of the investment for medium-size 
businesses and 15% for small businesses (or €200,000 
over three years if this is more favorable).

Support for SMEs (FDPMI - government >>
fund for the development of small and 
medium-size businesses): France’s central 

government and regional authorities may grant 
subsidies to small and medium-sized enterprises 
to help them purchase technology-rich equipment. 
Such support is available throughout France, and 
it is particularly focused on designated regional 
aid zones.
Real-estate support for SMEs>>  (except for 
Ile de France excluding Deprived Urban Zones 
(ZUS) or Rural Revitalization Zones (ZRR)
Support can also be provided through the >>
European Regional Development Fund 
(ERDF) if the Operational Program, negotiated 
region by region, has been approved by the 
European Commission.
Loans and guarantees for SMEs>>  depending 
on the company’s project: some measures may 
be extended to large companies by the European 
Recovery Plan.

II. Receiving funding for training 
and recruitment

The French government has developed a variety 
of instruments to provide financial incentives for 
businesses to create jobs and train employees.

II.1. Funding for job creation

II.1.1. Government employment funding
Businesses of all sizes can receive support for job 
creation unrelated to any investment project.
The main forms of funding in this area are:

Exemptions or relief on social security >>
contributions, with a particular focus in certain 
regional aid zones: Urban Revitalization Areas 
(ZRU), Rural Revitalization Areas (ZRR), Urban 
Enterprise Zones (ZFU) and, since January 1, 
2007, Employment Priority Zones (BER).
Subsidized employment contracts, e.g. >>
‘professionalization’ contracts.

II.1.2. Employment incentives
Some forms of aid and partial exemptions from social 
security contributions depend on the category of 
employee recruited. They are granted automatically 
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> Medium-size enterprises satisfy all 
of the following criteria: fewer than 
250 employees, annual turnover 
under €50 million or a balance 
sheet total under €43 million and 
free of any controlling interest (25% 
of equity or voting rights) by a large 
company.

 > Small enterprises have fewer than 
50 employees and annual turnover 
or a balance sheet total under €10 
million. They are also independent 
of any large company.

> Calculation of employee numbers, 
turnover and balance sheets must

factor in all the businesses in which 
the company has a direct or indirect 
interest exceeding 25%. Employee 
and finance thresholds must be 
exceeded in two consecutive financial 
years for the company to gain or lose 
SME status.

EU definition of Small and Medium-size Enterprises (SMEs)

In detail

For further information: European Commission recommendations dated May 6, 2003, concerning definitions of micro, small and 
medium-sized enterprises

and independently from the investment incentives 
described above. In this respect, reduced employer 
contributions for low-wage earners mean that 
companies pay reduced social security contributions 
for wages under 160% of the minimum wage (SMIC). 
These reduced employer contributions amount to 
around 19% on behalf of employees being paid the 
minimum wage.

II.2. Funding for employee training

Enhancing workforce skills is a key priority in France 
and this is reflected in a variety of programs to 
support business training initiatives.
These programs can partly cover costs including 
payments to training leaders, travel expenses for 
training leaders and employees being trained, other 
overheads, depreciation of training equipment, 
related consultancy fees and the time taken off 
work by employees being trained. 
The level of funding depends of the type of training 
and the size and location of the business.

To benefit from maximum allowable levels of 
support for their training programs, businesses of 
all sizes may take advantage of the various forms of 
aid described below. 

Local authorities may provide support for >>
initiatives providing between 50 and 1,200 hours 
of theoretical and practical training and for those 
helping employees to adapt to a new position 
requiring the equivalent of at least 120 hours in 
lost work time.
European funding channeled through regions>>

The European Social Fund and European Regional 
Development Fund may cover a portion of 
operating expenses relating to training, salary 
expenses for employees participating, and ancillary 
expenses.
Tax credit for spending on management training >>
in SMEs

This applies to individual entrepreneurs, managers, 
CEOs and directors of SMEs. The tax credit is 
limited to 40 hours of training per year. Depending 
on circumstances, it may be offset against personal 
income or corporate tax.
EDEC contracts (formerly EDDF)>>

Businesses can also call on their professional 
and inter-professional organizations to receive 
technical and financial support covering 25% to 
80% of training expenses.
Where the amount of support granted to 
a company exceeds €2 million, the European 
Commission must be notified.
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Large businesses SMEs

Targeted training:
Training with direct application to the employee’s tasks and developing skills not transferable 

to other businesses or other types of work.
25 % 35 %

Targeted training in regional aid zones 30 % 40 %

General training:
Training not limited to applications in the employee’s current or planned position, instead developing 
skills that are in large part useable in other businesses or positions and thus significantly enhancing 

the recipient’s employability.

50 % 70 %

General training in regional aid zones 55 % 75 %

Increases in support for training

In detail

III. Receiving support for 
innovation, research and 
development

France has adopted an industrial policy with a strong 
focus on support for research, development and 
the capacity for innovation of businesses operating 
within its borders.
Government support for innovation, research 
and development in the private sector is chiefly 
provided by the research tax credit. This is calculated 
at 30% of annual research expenditure (50% then 
40% in the first two years) on R&D operations 
carried out in France and is a supplement to the 
local economic  contribution (CET) exemption for 
R&D equipment.
In addition to this general tax environment, the French 
authorities have created public funding tools for R&D 
projects within the EU framework. The Ministry for 
the Economy, Industry and Employment, the Ministry 
for Higher Education and Research and the Ministry 
for Ecology, Energy, Sustainable Development and the 
Sea, assisted by public-sector organizations including 
the National Research Agency (Agence nationale pour 
la recherche) the Industrial Innovation Agency (Agence 

pour l’innovation industrielle) and OSEO, are ready 
to act. Regional and local authorities can provide 
additional support in this area.
These support measures help finance corporate 
R&D projects throughout France.

III.1. Aid for R&D available throughout 
France

Subsidies may cover a portion of R&D expenditure 
including related payroll expenses, equipment 
procurement, expenses for contracted research, 
intellectual property and patent rights, as well as 
overheads. 
The level of support depends on the stage of R&D 
underway, which may concern fundamental research, 
industrial research or experimental development. 
Government contributions to large businesses 
conducting shared experimental R&D projects may 
cover up to 40% of the total cost.
To benefit from maximum permitted levels of 
support for their research and development 
programs, businesses may take advantage of the 
various forms of aid described below:

Regional development grants for research, >>
development and innovation (Prime d’Aménagement 
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These support measures help finance corporate R&D projects throughout France

Companies with 250 
or more employees

Medium-sized 
enterprises

Small enterprises - 
SMEs with max. 
50 employees
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Fundamental research 100 % 100 % 100 %

Industrial research 50 % 60 % 70 %

Industrial research involving cross-border cooperation 
between businesses with the participation of at least one SME 

or research body
65 % 75 % 80 %

Experimental development 25 % 35 % 45 %

Experimental development involving cross-border cooperation 
between businesses with the participation of at least one SME 

or research body
40 % 50 % 60 %
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Preparatory studies for industrial research 65 % 75 %

Preparatory studies for experimental development 40 % 50 %

In detail

du Territoire - PAT) can be as much as €15,000 for 
each job created or involved in the R&D project 
(or €25,000 per job in the case of a cooperative 
project). They are available for R&D projects leading 
to the net creation of at least 20 permanent jobs 
or eligible expenditure of at least €7.5 million.
Grants from the Ministry for the Economy, Industry >>
and Employment (Company competitiveness 
fund; R&D strategic line for international projects 
with high added value)
OSEO support for companies with fewer than >>
5,000 employees is in the form of grants, repayable 
advances or assistance towards the recruitment 
of R&D personnel (Aide au Recrutement pour 
l’Innovation).
National Research Agency >> (Agence nationale de 
la recherche) assistance supports fundamental 
and applied research, public-private partnerships 
and dissemination of public research results to 
business and industry. It operates on the basis 
of calls for proposals.

Local-authority support for R&D projects may >>
be in the form of grants, interest-free loans and 
advances or loans and advances at rates below 
the bond-market average, and interest subsidies 
setting rates at between zero and the bond-
market average.
Support from the Ademe (French Environment and >>
Energy Management Agency) for R&D projects, in 
particular for R&D project feasibility studies.
Support for innovation in service-sector processes >>
and organization may be available from local 
authorities and the DATAR. Limits are 15% of 
related spending for large businesses, which can 
only benefit if they are working with an SME, 25% 
for medium-sized enterprises and 35% for small 
enterprises.
New innovative companies receive special benefits >>
to encourage their development in France (tax 
relief, social security contribution exemptions, 
and exemptions on capital gains from equity 
transfers). 
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CIFRE (Convention Industrielle 
de Formation par la Recherche) 
contracts offer post-graduate 
students an opportunity to prepare 

their doctorate in the workplace, 
which receives an annual fixed 
grant of €14,000. These contracts 
are administered by the National 

Association for Technical Research 
(Association nationale de la 
recherche technique).

Subsidized R&D employment contracts

In detail

Businesses participating in one of 
France’s innovation clusters and 
conducting an R&D project approved 
by that cluster may be eligible to 
receive subsidies from public 
organizations supporting R&D. Limits 
on subsidies for an experimental 
development project are raised from 
25% to 40% when the project is 
conducted within an innovation 
cluster.

Businesses may also benefit from tax 
exemptions amounting to as much 

as €200,000 per company over 
three years, provided they are in an 
area eligible for R&D support, 
through:

> full exemption of capital gains 
duly declared by the company, 
after deduction of losses carried 
forward for businesses subject to 
corporate tax (impôt sur les 
sociétés or IS), over 36 months 
and a 50% exemption over 24 
months;

> full exemption from IFA (impôt 

forfaitaire annuel), an annual tax 
based on company revenues, for a 
period of up to five years;

> with the approval of local 
authorities, exemptions from the 
local economic contribution (CET) 
and property tax on construction 
projects over a period of five years 
(exemption not offset by central 
government).

This exemption has been increased 
to €500,000 until the end of 
December 2010.

Aid for research and development in innovation clusters

IV. Support for environmental 
investments is being developed

French authorities may award grants for investments 
which seek to exceed the legally required minimum 
environmental standards. These may cover up to 
the 35% of expenditure for large businesses and 
45% for SMEs, which may also receive support for 
upgrading to meet legal requirements.
Eligible investments are expenditure on property, 
plants and equipment to reduce pollution, noise, 
odors, and to protect the environment. Consideration 
may also be given to expenses relating to technology 
transfers through operating licenses and the 
acquisition of expertise, patented or otherwise. 
The level of funding depends on the type of 
environmental investment:

SMEs may receive funding of up to 15% for a >>
period of three years to support investments 

to meet EU standards;
Businesses of all sizes may receive support >>
covering up to 30% of investments which exceed 
applicable EU standards;
Three types of investments may benefit from >>
higher rates: energy saving investments, combined 
heat and electricity generation and investment in 
renewable energy may benefit from investment 
support of up to 40% of eligible costs.
Investments in renewable energy sufficient to >>
supply an entire community may benefit from 
aid covering up to 50% of total spending.

Government agencies and other public bodies able 
to provide support for environmental investments 
include the Agency for the Environment and Energy 
(Agence de l’Environnement et de la Maîtrise de l’Energie 
- ADEME), the Water Agency (Agence de l’Eau), and 
guarantee funds for investments in energy savings 
and renewables (FOGIME and FIDEME).

In detail
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OSEO has been charged by the French State to 
support innovation and to help companies grow*. Its 
mission is to help entrepreneurs, where risk would 
prevent them from moving forward: in many cases, 
market deficiencies stifle growth. This is where OSEO 
comes in, shouldering some of the risk, as a partner of 
the companies and their financial backers. 

During 2009, OSEO carried out 107,000 operations 
to help 80,000 companies, which were then able to 
raise €25 billion in financing. France’s “national loan” 
bond issue** will provide yet more funds for OSEO 
to help companies in 2010.

A range of financial products geared to the 
needs of companies

OSEO’s work covers three complementary activities: 
support for innovation, guarantees and joint financing 
(with commercial banks). 

This unique combination allows OSEO to propose a 
range of products to help companies at every stage 
of their development, from starting up to their sale 
to a new owner, from developing their business 
internationally to the creation of new innovative 
products and services. 

1. Innovation support

OSEO’s first core activity is to support innovation 
through direct financing of projects via grants or 
interest-free loans. Among other initiatives, OSEO has 
introduced specific programs for ambitious projects 
which require collaboration between companies (the 
ISI program). Up to €10 million can be allocated to 
these projects, either in the form of:

• �grants of up to 50% of eligible expenses (solely for 
activities relating to industrial research);

• �or in the form of loans of up to 40% of eligible 
expenses (plus a 10% bonus in certain cases) for 
experimental development. 

Recently, OSEO has also started to manage the 
Interministerial Fund which finances innovative 
projects for France’s innovation clusters (pôles de 
compétitivité).

Another key initiative is the OSEO “innovative 
company” certification granted to promising firms 
which makes them eligible for investment from mutual 
funds to support innovation (FCPI). 

Lastly, OSEO has been designated by Ministerial decree 
dated August 27, 2009 as the operator of the advance 
tax ruling procedure (rescrit) for companies wishing 
to claim the research tax credit***. 

2. Guarantees of bank financing

In its second core activity, OSEO guarantees commercial 
bank financing and private equity investors. Here too, 
the goal is to facilitate bank-credit or venture-capital 
financing of risky projects. OSEO supports bank 
lending by shouldering between 40% and 70% of the 
risk, with a simple rule – the riskier the project, the 
higher the share taken on by OSEO. 

3. Company financing alongside banks

Thirdly, OSEO’s financing activity complements that 
of commercial banks with a range of standard and 
mezzanine loans. Some of these products are designed 
to help companies finance activities which cannot 
be backed by hard assets: these loans, with differed 
amortization and provided without collateral, can 
bolster companies’ accounts by up to €3 million. 

A regional presence and an international 
outlook

To offer companies the best possible service, OSEO 
provides project management expertise through a 
network of colleagues spread across 37 locations in 
France. All company requests are handled directly 
within this regional network. 

* OSEO supports independent companies with up to 5,000 employees
** The French government is borrowing €35 million via a bond issue to 
finance five key priorities for the future: higher education and training, 
research, industrial policy, sustainable development and the digital 
economy.
*** The research tax credit is a tax incentive scheme to stimulate R&D. 
Unclaimed credits can be leveraged by companies.

OSEO supports growth and innovation

Mr. Francois Drouin, OSEO Chief Executive
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French term English term

Activité professionnelle commerciale, artisanale, industrielle Commercial, entrepreneurial or industrial activity

Activité professionnelle salariée Salaried employment

Aides à finalité régionale Regional aid

Autorisation provisoire de travail Temporary work permit

Bail commercial Commercial lease

Bail professionnel Professional lease

Bureau de liaison Liaison office

Carte de séjour mention  «commerçant » “Business Activity” residence permit

Carte de séjour mention  « salarié en mission» “Expatriate Employee” residence permit

Carte de séjour mention  « scientifique» “Scientific Activity” residence permit

Carte de séjour mention  «compétences et talents » “Skills and Expertise” residence permit

Carte de résident pour « contribution économique exceptionnelle »  “Exceptional Economic Contribution” residence permit

Cadre dirigeant Senior manager 

Cadre de haut niveau Highly skilled employee

Centre des impôts Tax office

Centre d’affaires Business center

Changement de statut Change of status

Code du Travail French Labor Code (employment laws)

Comité d’entreprise Works Council

Commune City or municipal authorities

Contrat à durée indéterminée (CDI) Permanent contract

Contrat à durée déterminée (CDD) Fixed-term contract

Conseil d’administration Board of directors

Conseil de surveillance Supervisory council

Contribution économique territoriale (CET) Local economic contribution (replaced the local business tax in 2010)

Convention collective Sector-specific collective agreement on labor relations

Convention fiscale Tax agreement

Convention de sécurité sociale Social security agreement

Crédit d’impôt recherche Research tax credit

Déclaration unique d’embauche Employee hiring form

Décret Decree

Département
For administrative and political purposes, France is divided into 26 regions 
and 100 départements (broadly equivalent to a county in English-speaking 

countries). Départements are further subdivided into communes.

Détachement / salarié détaché Secondment/seconded employee

Direction régionale de l’entreprise, de la concurrence, de la consommation, du 
travail et de l’emploi – DIRRECTE (anciennement Direction départementale du 

Travail, de l’Emploi et de la Formation Professionnelle – DDTEFP)

Local employment authority (département-based DDTEFPs, which are merging 
to become regional-based DIRRECTEs)

Glossary Doing Business in France

Below is a list of French terms that foreign companies are likely to encounter when locating 
their business operations in France, followed by a brief explanation in English. Readers 
should be aware that the technical terms in English serve only as a guideline and do not 
necessarily correspond entirely to the same concepts as the French terms. For further 
information, please contact the IFA.
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French term English term

Entreprise individuelle Sole proprietorship

Entreprise Unipersonnelle à Responsabilité Limitée (EURL) Single-shareholder limited liability company

Extrait K-bis Company registration certificate

Gérant Manager

Greffe du tribunal de commerce Commercial Court Registry

Groupement d’intérêt économique (GIE) Economic interest grouping (business consortium)

Impôt sur les sociétés (IS) Income tax

Impôt de solidarité sur la fortune (ISF) Wealth tax

Inspection du Travail Labor inspection

Mairie Municipal offices

Mandataire social Company director (representing the company)

Office Français de l’Immigration et de l’Intégration (OFII) French Immigration and Citizenship Office

Personne morale Corporate entity

Personne physique Private individual

Plan social Layoff plan / restructuring program / redundancy plan

Prestation de service Service provision

Procédure d’introduction Admission procedure

Préfecture The office of the Prefect, who is the local representative of national government 
in each French département

Prime à l’aménagement du territoire (PAT) Development grant

Prud’hommes Labor or employment tribunal

Récépissé Receipt

Régistre du commerce et des sociétés (RCS) Company register

Résidence fiscale Tax residence

Salaire minimum interprofessionnel de croissance (SMIC) Statutory national minimum wage

Salarié Salaried employee

Sécurité sociale Social security 

Service des impôts des entreprises (SIE) Corporate tax office

Société anonyme (SA) Public Limited Company (PLC)

Société à responsabilité limitée (SARL) Limited Liability Company (LLC) / Private limited company (Ltd.)

Société civile Non-trading partnership (e.g. real estate or medical services)

Société en commandite par actions Limited partnership

Société en nom collectif General partnership

Société par actions simplifiée (SAS) Simplified company

Stagiaire Intern / Trainee

Taxe d’habitation Housing tax

Taxe foncière Property tax

Taxe sur la valeur ajoutée Value-added tax

Travailleur temporaire Temporary worker 

Visa de circulation Circulation visa

Visa court séjour Short-stay visa

Visa de long séjour Long-stay visa

Visa de long séjour valant titre de séjour Long-stay visa equivalent to a residence permit

Voyageur de commerce, représentant ou placier (VRP) Business traveler, representative or travelling salesperson (special legal status)

Glossary



Agence de l’environnement et de la maîtrise de l’énergie (ADEME)
French Environment and Energy Management Agency
Government agency responsible for the application of environment, energy and sustainable 
development policy. The ADEME helps finance projects in five sectors (waste management, land 
preservation, energy conservation/renewable energy sources, air pollution and noise pollution) and 
assists efforts towards sustainable development

www.ademe.fr

Association française pour le nommage internet en coopération (AFNIC)
French Internet Names and Cooperation Association http://www.afnic.fr/_en

Autorité de la Concurrence
Autorité de contrôle des pratique anticoncurrentielles
Notification des opérations de concentration

http://www.autoritedelaconcurrence.fr/

Autorité des marchés financiers (AMF)
Financial Market Authority - financial regulations www.amf-france.org/

Centre des liaisons européennes et internationales de sécurité sociale (CLEISS)
Center of European and International Liaisons for Social Security
Acts as a liaison body between French social security organizations and those in other countries, with 
regard to international regulations and social security agreements

www.cleiss.fr

Centre de formalités des entreprises (CFE)
Business Formalities Center
CFEs provide a one-stop service for companies, enabling them to file a single document to register 
the establishment, modification or cessation of their business activity. In general, CFEs are either 
chambers of commerce and industry or commercial court clerk’s offices

www.annuaire-cfe.insee.fr/AnnuaireCFE/jsp/
Controleur.jsp
www.cfenet.cci.fr/
www.infogreffe.fr/infogreffe/index.jsp

Centre des impôts des non résidents
Non-residents’ Tax Office - tax office for individuals and companies residing abroad
Introduction of a non-residents’ helpdesk (Service d’accueil des non residents - SANR) providing 
precise advice to non-residents and expatriates about their tax liability upon their return to France 
(advance ruling - rescrit - available on request)

www.impots.gouv.fr
Direction Générale des Finances Publiques
Service d’accueil des non-résidents
Bureau des agréments et rescrits
86-92 allée de Bercy - Télédoc 957
01.53.18.19.46 - sanr@dgfip.finances.gouv.fr

Chambre du commerce et de l’industrie
Chamber of Commerce and Industry
Information on setting up a business (examples of articles of incorporation) plus general advice 
concerning legal and tax issues

www.ccip.fr

Commission nationale de l'informatique et des libertés (CNIL) 
French Data Protection Authority
The CNIL checks that the law is respected through audits of computer data processing. “Sensitive” 
data processing is referred to the CNIL for authorization. The CNIL audits public use of individuals’ 
national identification numbers and receives declarations regarding the processing of other data

www.cnil.fr

Customs authorities www.douane.gouv.fr

Délégation interministérielle à l'aménagement du territoire et à l'attractivité régionale (DATAR) 
Interministerial Delegation for Regional Development and Economic Attractiveness
Department of the Prime Minister’s office for the Ministry for Rural and Regional Development. The DATAR 
is jointly responsible with the Ministry for the Economy, Industry and Employment for France’s innovation 
clusters. The DATAR is also responsible for PAT grants which encourage businesses and job creation

www.datar.gouv.fr

Direction départementale du travail, de l’emploi et de la formation professionnelle (DDTEFP) 
Employment Authorities in each département - are merging to become part of regional DIRRECTEs. 
Contact foreign labor force department for work permits
Directions régionales des entreprises, de la concurrence de la consommation du travail et de la 
formation professionnelle (DIRRECTEs) 
Regional Directorates for Companies, Competition, Consumption, Work and Professional Development. 
Starting in 2010, progressive merger of regional employment authorities with certain DGCCRF departments

Direction générale de la compétitivité, de l’industrie et des services (DGCIS)
Directorate for Competitiveness, Industry and Services - from a merger between the Directorates for 
Business (DGE), Tourism (DT), Trade, Services & Liberal professions (DCASPL)

http://www.industrie.gouv.fr/portail/une/dgcis.
html

Direction générale de la consommation, concurrence et de la répression des fraudes (DGCCRF)
Directorate for Competition Policy, Consumer Affairs and the Prevention of Fraud www.dgccrf.bercy.gouv.fr

Direction générale du trésor (DGTPE)
Treasury Directorate (part of Ministry for the Economy, Industry and Employment - MEIE)
Declarations of foreign investment; authorizes investment in sensitive sectors

http://www.dgtpe.minefi.gouv.fr/

Useful contacts Doing Business in France
Name Links
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Direction générale des finances publiques (DGFiP)
Public Finances Directorate, a merger of the Taxation Directorate (DGI) and Public Accounts Directorate 
(DGCP)

www.impots.gouv.fr

Direction régionale de l’industrie, de la recherche et de l’environnement (DRIRE)
Regional Directorate for Industry, Research and the Environment - regulations concerning listed 
facilities

Direction régionale de l'environnement, de l'aménagement et du logement (DREAL)
Regional Directorate for the Environment, Development and Housing - progressive merger 2009-2011 
between DRIREs, DIRENs (Regional Environment Directorates) and DREs (Regional Infrastructure 
Directorates)

www.drire.gouv.fr

www.installationsclassees.ecologie.gouv.fr
http://admi.net/meeddm/dreal.html

European Union www.europa.eu.int

French Embassies and Consulates
http://www.mfe.org/index.php/Annuaires/
Ambassades-et-consulats-francais-a-l-
etranger/

Greffe du tribunal de commerce de Paris
Paris Commercial Court Clerk’s Office
Business startups (documents to be submitted with the articles), business takeovers

www.greffe-tc-paris.fr

Institut national de la propriété intellectuelle (INPI)
National Institute of Intellectual Property Rights
Government body, self-financing, reporting to the Ministry of Economy Industry and Employment, that 
issues patents, trademarks, design rights and provides access to information concerning intellectual 
property rights and companies

www.inpi.fr/

Ministère de l’économie, de l’industrie et de l’emploi (MEIE)
Ministry for the Economy, Industry and Employment www.minefe.gouv.fr

Ministère de l’éducation nationale
Ministry for Education www.education.gouv.fr

Ministère de l'enseignement supérieur et de la recherche
Ministry for Further Education and Research www.recherche.gouv.fr

Ministère de l’écologie, de l’énergie, du développement durable et de la mer
Ministry for Ecology, Energy, Sustainable Development and the Sea
Regulations concerning building, demolition and renovation permits

http://www.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/
http://www.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/
Permis-de-construire-et-autres,13286.html

Ministère du travail, de la solidarité et de la fonction publique
Ministry for Labor, Solidarity and the Public sector
Procedures for hiring foreign salaried employees, addresses of regional employment offices, practical 
information on French employment law

www.travail-solidarite.gouv.fr

Office français de l'immigration et de l'intégration (OFII)
Office for Immigration and Integration - responsible for the reception in France of legal immigrants www.ofii.fr

OSEO (Agence française de l’innovation)
French Innovation Agency - Government agency responsible for financial aid and support of SMEs, in 
collaboration with banks and investment organizations, at crucial phases in the company’s life cycle

www.oseo.fr

Pôle emploi
National Employment Office - formed from a merger between ANPE/ASSEDIC, the two bodies previously 
responsible for placing the unemployed into work and administering benefits

http://www.pole-emploi.fr/

Préfecture de police de Paris
Paris Prefecture
Issuing and renewal of residence permits for foreign nationals residing in Paris

www.prefecture-police-paris.interieur.gouv.fr

Unions de recouvrement des cotisations de sécurité sociale et d'allocations familiales (URSSAF)
Agency responsible for collecting social security contributions

www.urssaf.fr
www.net-entreprises.fr/Html/foreign-companies.htm

Tax authorities
Tax regulations for companies and individuals, tax agreements www.impots.gouv.fr

Textes législatifs et réglementaires en vigueur en France et convention collective
French legislation and regulations in force www.legifrance.gouv.fr

Information on the future of the French pension system www.retraite.cnav.fr

French Government portal www.service-public.fr
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The Invest in France Agency would like to thank the following corporate partners from 
the IFA Partners Network for their contribution to “Doing Business in France 2010” 
and for their ongoing support to help foreign investors develop their business in France. 

Accounting and Auditing

AUDIT & DIAGNOSTIC

Olivier MAURIN

160 Boulevard Haussmann

75008 Paris

o.maurin@aetd.fr

33 (0) 1 40 73 17 74

www.aetd.fr

Deloitte

Marie-Ange ANDRIEUX

185 avenue Charles de Gaulle

92524 Neuilly sur Seine cedex

maandrieux@deloitte.fr

33 (0)1 58 37 90 28

www.deloitte.fr

Fidag

Alain GIRARD

45 rue Lafayette 

75009 Paris

alain.girard@fidag.com

33 (0) 1 42 80 20 81

www.fidag.com

Isobel Audit

Consulting

Jean-Fabrice CAUCHY

12 rue Pernelle 

75004 Paris

jeanfabricecauchy@groupefnrc.com

33 (0) 1 45 08 82 90

www.isobel.groupefnrc.com

MAZARS

Christine LASCOMBE

61, rue Henri Regnault

92075 Paris- La Défense Cedex

christine.lascombe@mazars.com

33 (0) 1 49 97 60 00

www.mazars.fr

Banking

HSBC

Madame Christine DEBU

109 avenue des Champs-Elysées

75419 Paris CEDEX 08

christine.debu@hsbc.fr

33 (0) 1 40 70 22 78

www.hsbc.fr

Business Centers

REGUS

Christine FALA-ROCA

9-11, Allée de l'Arche

92671 Courbevoie Cedex

christine.fala-roca@regus.com

33 (0) 1 70 92 39 46

www.regus.fr

Commercial real-estate advice

DTZ

Thierry LABORDERIE

8 rue de l'Hôtel de Ville

92 522 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

thierry.laborderie@dtz.com

33 (0) 1 49 64 64 45

www.dtz.com

Legal advice

Baker & McKenzie

Madame Florence KUENTZ

1 rue Paul Baudry

75008 Paris

florence.kuentz@bakernet.com

33 (0) 1 44 17 53 00

www.bakernet.com

DS Avocats

Olivier MONANGE

46 rue de Bassano 

75008 Paris

monange@dsavocats.com

33 (0) 1 53 67 50 38

www.dsavocats.com

Eversheds

Laura PYKE-JEAN

Eversheds LLP

8 Place d'Iéna 

75116 Paris

laurapykejean@eversheds.com

33 (0) 1 55 73 40 00

www.eversheds.fr

FIDAL

François BERNAUER

32 Place Ronde

92035 Paris La Défense Cedex

fbernauer@fidalinternational.com

33 (0) 1 55 68 15 15

www.fidal.fr

IFA PARTNERS NETWORK

IFA Partners Network Doing Business in France
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KARL WAHEED
Karl WAHEED

34 rue Henri Chevreau

75020 Paris

karl.waheed@karlwaheed.fr

33 (0)1 43 66 94 27

www.karlwaheed.fr

REED SMITH
Madame Charlotte TAUPIN

42, avenue Raymond Poincaré 

75782 Paris Cedex 16

ctaupin@reedsmith.com

33 (0)1 76 70 40 00 

www.reedsmith.com 

SALANS
Paola POZZI-DAZZA

5 boulevard Malesherbes

75008 Paris

PPozzi@salans.com

33 (0) 1 42 68 48 00

www.salans.com

UGGC
Olivier LEFEBURE

47, rue de Monceau

75008 Paris

o.lefebure@uggc.com

33(0) 1 56 69 70 00

www.uggc.com

WSA
Rémy BLAIN

12 rue Magellan

75008 Paris

rblain@ws-a.com

33 (0) 1 58 56 48 48

www.ws-a.com

Consultancy (State Aid)

Subventium
Denis ALLARD

11 quai de Dion Bouton

92816 Puteaux Cedex

dallard@subventium.com

33 (0) 1 41 44 32 00

www.subventium.com

HR, Recruitment

APEC
Olivier ARMANDON

51, boulevard Brune - 75014 Paris

olivier.armandon@apec.fr

33 (0) 1 40 52 22 32

www.apec.fr

CATENON
World Executive Search
Yann RAMBOUSEK

28 rue de Londres

75009 Paris

yrambousek@catenon.com

33(0) 1 78 42 36 18

www.catenon.com

Public relations

APCO WORLDWIDE
Philippe MAZE-SENCIER 

15 rue de Marignan 75008 Paris

pmaze@apcoworldwide.com 

33 (0)1 44 94 86 63

www.apcoworldwide.com

The “IFA Partners 
Network” brings together 
private-sector organizations 
and the Invest in France 
Agency to promote France’s 
competitive advantages 
and to provide a complete 
range of services to foreign 
investors at every step of 
the investment process. For 
further information, please 
visit our website: 
www.investinfrance.org.

IFA PARTNERS NETWORK

IFA Partners Network
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EUROPE
IFA FRANCE

Paris
David Appia, Chairman and CEO 
77, boulevard Saint Jacques 
75680 Paris cedex 14 
+33 1 44 87 17 17 
info@investinfrance.org 
www.investinfrance.org
Sandrine Coquelard 
Legal expert, Director Tax and Legal 
Expertise Department 
sandrine.coquelard@afii.fr
Fatia Bouteiller 
Legal expert, Immigration 
fatia.bouteiller@afii.fr
Gilles Orcière 
Tax expert 
gilles.orciere@afii.fr

IFA GERMANY, Austria, 
switzerland

Dusseldorf
Didier Boulogne, Director 
c/o Französische Botschaft 
Königsalle 53-55 
D-40121 Düsseldorf 
+49 (0) 211 54 22 67 0 
germany@investinfrance.org

IFA belgium, luxembourg
Brussels
Michel Gilbert, Director 
475, avenue Louise 
B-1050 Brussels 
+32 2 646 59 40  
belux@investinfrance.org

IFA NETHERLANDS

Amsterdam
Frédérique Lefevre, Director 
French Embassy 
Stadionweg 137 
1077 SL Amsterdam 
+31 (0)20 662 20 39 
amsterdam@investinfrance.org

IFA SPAIN & PORTUGAL

Madrid
Sébastien Carbon, Director 
Embajada de Francia 
Marqués de la Ensenada, 10 
4ª Planta 
E-28004 Madrid 
+34 (0) 91 83 77 850 
spain@investinfrance.org

IFA UK & IrEland
London
Fabrice Etienvre, Director 
Haymarket House 
28/29 Haymarket 
London SW1Y 4RX 
+44 (0) 20 7024 3672 
uk@investinfrance.org

IFA ITALY
Milan
Hervé Pottier, Director 
Ambasciata di Francia
Via Cusani, 10
I-20121 Milano
39 (0) 2 72 02 25 43
italy@investinfrance.org

IFA SCANDINAVIA
Stockholm
Gilles Debuire, Director 
French Embassy
Kungsgatan 58
S-11122 Stockholm
+46 (0) 8 545 850 40
nordiccountries@investinfrance.org

ASIA
IFA CHINA
Shanghai
Pascal Gondrand, Director 
Suite 202 
Hai Tong Securities Building
689, Guang Dong Lu
Shanghai
+86 (21) 6135 2040
china@investinfrance.org

Hong Kong
Jean-Claude Bernard, Director 
25/F, Admiralty Center, Tower II
18 Hourcourt Road
GPO Box N° 24 21 Hong Kong
+(852) 37 52 91 70
hongkong@investinfrance.org

IFA TAIWAN
Taipei
Emmanuel Ly-Batallan, Director 
Bank Tower #1401
N° 205 TunHwa North Road
Po-Box 118-1361
105 Taipei
+886 2 2713 3552
taiwan@investinfrance.org

IFA SOUTH KOREA
Seoul
Antoine Chéry, Director 
Samheug Building 
8th FI 705-9 Yeoksam-Dong 
Kangnam-Ku 
135 - 711 Seoul 
+822 564 0419 
korea@investinfrance.org

IFA INDIA
New Delhi
Jean Leviol, Director 
2/50 E Shantipath Chanakyapuri
110 021 NEW DELHI
+91 11 2419 6300
india@investinfrance.org

IFA JAPAN

Tokyo
Christophe Grignon, Director 
4-11-44 Minami-Azabu
Minato-ku
Tokyo 106-8514
+81 (0) 3 5798 6140
japan@investinfrance.org

IFA SINGAPORE

Singapore
Jean-Marie Demange, Director 
French Embassy
101-103 Cluny Park Road
259595
Singapore
+65 68 80 78 78
singapore@investinfrance.org

IFA RUSSIA

Moscow
Philippe Baudry, Director
Jérôme Clausen, Project Director 
Bolchaïa Iakimanka 45
119049 Moscow
+7 (495) 937 24 00
russia@investinfrance.org

IFA TURkey

Ankara
Pierre Coste, Director
French Consulate
B.P. n° 1
Iran Caddesi, Karum Is Merkezi n°21, 
Asansör E, n°444, Kat.6, Kavaklidere
06680 Ankara 
+(90 312) 428 31 75
turkey@investinfrance.org

Géraldine Filippi, Project Director 
Istiklal cad. 142 
Odakule 10e étage 
BP 46 – 34430 Beyoglu 
Istanbul 
+90 212 243 10 11/13

MIDDLE EAST
IFA UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

Abu Dhabi
Pierre Mourlevat, Director 
Hamdan Street
Al Masaood Tower, Suite 1103
PO Box 4036 Abu Dhabi
United Arab Emirates
+971 (0) 2 633 50 57
abudhabi@investinfrance.org

IFA ISRAEL

Tel Aviv
Dominique Klein, Director 
7 Havakuk HaNavi
63505 Tel Aviv
+972 (0) 3 546 65 35
israel@investinfrance.org
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Shanghai

Dusseldorf
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Singapore

London

Hong Kong

Amsterdam

Madrid

Milan

Paris

Taipei

Tokyo
Seoul

Mexico City

Stockholm

Istanbul

New Delhi
Tel Aviv

Abu Dhabi

Johannesburg
Sydney

New York

San Francisco
Chicago

Toronto

São Paulo

Moscow

Invest in France Agency. 77 Boulevard Saint Jacques 75014 Paris. 

Tel: +33 1 40 74 74 00. Email: info@investinfrance.org 

www.investinfrance.org

NORTH AMERICA 
IFA NORTH AMERICA

Philippe Yvergniaux, Director IFANA

New York
Philippe Parfait, Director 
810 Seventh Avenue, 
Suite 3800
New York, NY 10019
+1 212 757 93 40
usa@investinfrance.org

Chicago
Jean-Pierre Novak, Director 
French Embassy
205 North Michigan Avenue
Suite 3750
Chicago, IL 60601
+1 312 628 1054
usa@investinfrance.org

San Francisco
Caroline Laporte, Director 
88 Kearny Street
Suite 700
San Francisco, CA 94108
+1 415 781 0986
usa@investinfrance.org

Toronto
Valérie Buchalet, Project Director
20 Queen Street West
Suite 2004
Toronto, ON M5H 3R3
Canada
+1 416 977 12 57
canada@investinfrance.org

SOUTH AMERICA
Brazil
Hervé Le Roy, Director 
S.E.S. Avenida das Nações
Lote 04 - Quadra 801
70404-900 Brasilia DF
+55 61 312 92 47
brazil@investinfrance.org

François Removille, Project Director
Av. Paulista, 1842
Torre Norte, 14º Andar
01310-923, São Paulo – SP
+55 11 33 71 54 00

IFA CORRESPONDENTS

south africa
Inanda Greens Business Park 
Augusta House 
54 Wierda Road West 
Wierda Valley 
Sandton 
2196 Johannesburg
+27 11 303 71 50
southafrica@investinfrance.org

AUSTRALIA
6 Perth Avenue
Yarralumla Act 2600
Canberra
+61 (0)2 6216 0116
australia@investinfrance.org

MEXIco
La Fontaine 32
Col. Polanco
11560
Mexico - D.F.
+(00 52) (55) 91 71 98 89
mexico@investinfrance.org

With over 150 personnel working in 27 locations around the world, the IFA 
has a presence in most major business capitals around the world. Where the 
IFA does not have a country office, economic missions based at the French 
embassy or consulate work on behalf of the IFA to promote France’s economic 
attractiveness and detect foreign investment projects.

investinfrance.org



Disclaimer: This document presents the basic rules that apply to international companies locating their business in France. For practical purposes, this 
document presents a general overview and basic information about legal, tax and labor issues to facilitate company decision-making. The information 
herein is not comprehensive and the IFA cannot be held liable for any omissions or errors. Investors are advised to use the services of professional 
consultants for guidance on individual cases.

The intellectual property rights to this document are protected and belong exclusively to The Invest in France Agency. No part of this document may 
be reproduced for commercial purposes without the permission of the IFA.



The IFA would like to thank all of its partners, particularly the members of the IFA Partners Network  who contributed  

to this publication.

Publication Director: David Appia, Chairman and CEO. Chief Editor: Julie Cannesan, Director of Promotion. 

Production and Copy: Sandrine Coquelard, Fatia Bouteiller. English Editor and Coordinator: David Williams. 

Translation: Ubiqus. Editorial Coordination: Alexandra Chabut. 

Design and production:  agence@spherepublique.fr – Printed on recycled paper – May 2010. 




